IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS WYATT,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 79,245

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida.

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 421 Third Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

GARY CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 256919

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Thomas Wyatt appeals his conviction for first degree murder and death sentence in the death of Cathy Nydegger. 1

A. Ms. Nydegger's body was found dead in a rural area of Indian River County on May 20, 1988. R 547-48, 556-67. She died of a single gunshot wound to the top of the head; the gun had been in contact with the head when the shot was fired. R 642-43. A bruise on her face was consistent with her having fallen and struck a car or rough object (such as the road). R 639. Her blood contained seventeen times a potential lethal amount of cocaine. R 655, 669-70. A plastic straw found in her pocket, R 583, 588, contained cocaine residue. R 681-83. DNA testing of semen in her vagina showed that the semen was Michael Lovette's; it did not match Mr. Wyatt. R 1556.

Ms. Nydegger had been at a bar called Club 92 in Seffner, a small community near Tampa, the night before her body was discovered. Jennifer Oler, a bartender, testified that Mr. Wyatt and Michael Lovette arrived in a taxi, R 730-33, and Mr. Wyatt and Ms. Nydegger played with the Skill Crane, winning several stuffed animals; eventually the two left together, carrying several of the stuffed animals. R 735-37. Ten or fifteen minutes later, Mr. Wyatt returned and left with Mr. Lovette. R 738. While not disputing that he and Mr. Lovette met Ms. Nydegger at the bar, Mr.

¹ The indictment also charged Mr. Wyatt with other offenses involving the murder of three employees at a Domino's Pizza in Vero Beach. The instant charged was severed from the others prior to trial. The convictions and sentences as to the other counts form the basis of a separate appeal before this Court.

Wyatt testified that it was Lovette who spent more time with her in the bar and who initially left with her. R 1654-59.

1. The state presented both circumstantial evidence and a jailhouse statement to establish that Mr. Wyatt murdered Ms. Nydegger. The circumstantial evidence (not disputed by the defense) was: Mr. Wyatt possessed Ms. Nydegger's car when he registered under an assumed name at the Glen Ellen Motel in Clearwater on May 20, R 805-806; he abandoned the car some days later at a parking lot, R 749; while at the motel, he gave Freddie Fox a bag containing bullets matching the fatal bullet, R 852, 1446-47; Mr. Fox took from Mr. Wyatt a firearm with rifling characteristics similar to those of the gun used to kill Ms. Nydegger. R 847, 1414-19.

Testimony concerning the jailhouse statement came from Patrick McCoombs, who met Mr. Wyatt in jail in South Carolina. A man who had spent almost all of his life incarcerated for various offenses, R 1480, he testified over defense objection, R 1476-77, about a very strict "convict code" involving silence regarding other inmates and manipulation of the system to one's own ends. R 1483-84, 1502-1503. Regarding Mr. Wyatt's statements to him about Ms. Nydegger, he recounted: At a bar in Florida with Michael Lovette, Mr. Wyatt saw Ms. Nydegger, who was drunk, and he just wanted to have a good time so he got her out of the bar; he wanted to have

² The police found head hairs matching both Mr. Wyatt and Ms. Nydegger in the car. R 1565-74. Pubic hairs belonging to Ms. Nydegger were also found in the car. R 1567-68.

³ The state's firearms expert testified that hundreds of thousands of guns have similar characteristics. R 1421.

sex with her but once he got in the car he didn't want to have sex with her anymore, he just wanted to kill her. R 1499. He blew the top of her head off, or blew her brains out. R 1499. Asked why he did that, he replied that he wanted to see her die, that Mr. McCoombs should not be upset because she was nothing but a barfly, nobody cared for her. R 1500. He said that they dumped the body off of Route 60. R 1501.

In addition to the foregoing, the state presented considerable evidence concerning Mr. Wyatt's character and his activities before and after the Nydegger murder, including: He and Mr. Lovette stole a car from a used car lot in Jacksonville on May 16, and burned the car in Indian River County on May 18, 1988. R 916-17, 942-54 (detailed testimony about arson). At the scene of the arson were cartridges, bank bags and coin wrappers. R 935-36, 948-50. The police thought that the arson and the Nydegger murder were related. R 1043, 1078. He and Mr. Lovette checked into a motel in Yeehaw Junction under the name Billy Mathis. R 973-48, 9996, 1001-1004, 1013-23. Mr. Wyatt stole a Ford Taurus at Madeira Beach while living at the Glen Ellen Motel. R 1199-1204, 1509. On June 19, 1988, he was arrested in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina for being a passenger in the stolen Taurus, attempted to flee, struggled with the arresting officer, and gave the police a false R 1092, 1202-1204, 1371-81, 1510-11. After his employer, name. Larry Bouchette, bonded him out, they had an argument, and Mr.

The car was found about 3.5 miles from Ms. Nydegger's body. R 918. The state's theory was that Wyatt and Lovette needed Ms. Nydegger's car to return to the scene to retrieve a briefcase. With no basis in the record, the state hypothesized that this briefcase may have contained drugs. R 1926.

Wyatt stole Mr. Bouchette's truck and wallet. R 1211-14, 1511-12. He stole from another person at Bouchette's house. R 1228. Bouchette once heard him threaten to kill someone. R 1228-29. Mr. Wyatt hit Mr. Bouchette's neighbor on the head with a bottle. 1226-27. On July 7, 1988, while driving Bouchette's truck, he almost hit a state trooper's car in South Carolina, and then fled. R 1238-44. When arrested later than day, he spoke the officer in the holding cell, and said: "You know, it turns out you're pretty nice, I'm glad I didn't have a gun when you stopped me. " R 1261. He feigned conversion to Christianity after his arrest. 61. He made statements to law enforcement officials concerning his alter ego, "Jim," to the effect that "Jim" was extremely dangerous, had hurt many people, and had to be put to death. R 1337-41. told the officer (Deputy Karl Payne) who arrested him on July 7, 1988 that the arrest would be a feather in his cap, and he questioned the officer about death penalty procedures in South Carolina and Florida. R 1396-98. He questioned Mr. McCoombs about accommodations on Florida's death-row (McCoombs had been a "runaround" there). R 1489-94. He discussed with McCoombs taking advantage of an associate at the Clearwater motel, and using that person's identification papers. R 1505. He pretended he was from Ireland. R 1505. He was with a homosexual when stopped in the stolen car in Myrtle Beach. R 1510-11. He had made up "Jim," and used "Jim" as a ploy to create a split-personality defense. He planned to use Mr. McCoombs' contacts on death row to kill Mr. Lovette. R 1515-16.

Mr. Wyatt testified that, while he and Mr. Lovette were 3. at Club 92, Ms. Nydegger came in and began arguing with the barmaid. R 1656. She then helped him with the crane game, and won a little stuffed animal. R 1657. When Mr. Lovette started talking to Nydegger, Wyatt spoke with the barmaid, who said that Ms. Nydegger had stolen her cocaine from the bathroom. R 1657. Nydegger denied the accusation. R 1658. Nydegger and Lovette left together, then Lovette returned, and they all went to the motel in Nydegger's car. R 1659. After a while, Ms. Nydegger and Mr. Lovette left to get beer and food, and Mr. Wyatt stayed at the motel room. He woke up around 8:00 a.m., when Lovette came in and said Cathy had let him use her car, he had taken her home and they were to pick her up around 12:00 or 1:00. R 1660. Mr. Lovette left the room and never returned. R 1661. Eventually, Mr. Wyatt went outside and saw Cathy's car with the key in it; after more waiting, he drove it back to Club 92. R 1662. He kept looking for Lovette, but eventually drove through Tampa to Safety Harbor, looking for someone he had worked for before. R 1662-63. He then drove on to Clearwater, and stayed at the Glen Ellen Apartments. R 1663. He left the car at a parking lot and walked back to the Glen Ellen. R 1664-65. He used a false name at the motel because he had been involved in the car theft in Jacksonville and the arson, so he decided to use the alias. R 1665. Mr. Lovette's suitcase, which was in the car, contained a .38 special and bullets. R 1666.

Mr. Wyatt had 21 felony convictions. In his testimony, Mr. Wyatt admitted to the Jacksonville car theft, R 1642, the Madeira

Beach car theft, R 1670, the arson of the car near Yeehaw Junction, R 1645-48, the use of various aliases, R 1665, the theft of Bouchette's truck, R 1680 (he denied taking the wallet), the resisting arrest in Myrtle Beach, R 1676, the near accident and running away at the time of his eventual arrest, R 1682-85, and telling the police about "Jim." R 1698-95. He denied telling Mr. McCoombs that he had killed Ms. Nydegger. R 1701. Much of the cross-examination of Mr. Wyatt consisted of questioning him as to whether the state's witnesses had lied. R 1756, 1759, 1777-78, 1786, 1787, 1794, 1795, 1800, 1806, 1806-1807, 1807-1808, 1820-21, 1826-27.

B. 1. The state's penalty phase evidence pertained to Mr. Wyatt's prior convictions for various violent felonies.

Captain Sydney DuBose of the Indian River County Sheriff's Office testified, over hearsay objection, R 2072, that Mr. Wyatt and Michael Lovette escaped from prison in North Carolina in May 1988, R 2073, kidnapped and robbed Mr. Kwok, the chef at a South Carolina restaurant, R 2072, and robbed a Taco Bell in a Daytona Ronnie Robinette, a North Carolina Beach suburb. R 2076. corrections officer, testified that Wyatt and Lovette walked away from a work crew, and apparently burglarized a house, stole a canoe, and stole a vehicle. R 2081-84. Mr. Wyatt had been in prison for kidnapping, assault, inflicting serious injury, and robbery. R 2085. Larry Hollar testified that, when he gave a ride to Mr. Wyatt and another man in 1986, they beat, robbed and kidnapped him, putting him in the trunk of his car. R 2092-97. The trial court overruled defense objections to admission of a photograph of Mr. Hollar showing his injuries. R 2100. Mr. Wyatt was found guilty and imprisoned. R 2102. Gregory Rollins, a South Carolina deputy sheriff, testified over hearsay objection, R 2110, about the Kwok robbery: two men robbed Mr. Kwok at gunpoint, forced him into the trunk of his car, drove a short distance and then abandoned the car; Mr. Kwok then escaped from the trunk. R 2107-2108. Various investigators determined that the prints of Mr. Wyatt and Mr. Lovette were on the car. R 2112. Returning to the stand, Capt. DuBose testified that, in the Taco Bell robbery, Mr. Wyatt threatened to kill the manager with a gun, became a madman when he thought the manager had set off an alarm. R 2117-19.

Two law enforcement officers testified to details of three murders committed by Mr. Wyatt and Mr. Lovette at Domino's Pizza in Vero Beach a few days before the Nydegger murder. Their hearsay testimony was to the effect that the two men murdered three Domino's employees, that Mr. Wyatt's sperm was found in the vagina of one of the employees, that the bullets that killed the employees matched the bullet used to kill Ms. Nydegger, and that, according to Mr. McCoombs: Mr. Wyatt murdered the employees as a lesson to Mr. Lovette, he beat the manager because there was little money in the safe, the manager begged for his life and his wife's life (his wife was one of the other two employees), Mr. Wyatt shot the manager for lying to him, the wife begged to be released because she had a two-year-old daughter, Mr. Wyatt told her they would have to kill them to eliminate witnesses, and, before shooting the third employee, he told him that if he listened close he would hear the bullet coming. R 2163-76. The trial court overruled objections to admission of photographs of the murder victims. R 2155-56. Over a defense objection that his testimony was cumulative, a medical examiner gave extensive testimony about the injuries suffered by the persons in the Domino's murders. R 2184-94.

The defense presented evidence regarding Mr. Wyatt's 2. childhood and background. Mr. Wyatt's mother, Jean McDaniel, testified that she was in and out of mental hospitals throughout Mr. Wyatt's life. R 2231. Her husband, the defendant's father, was an abusive drunk. R 2233. The neighbors said: "This kid is never out, you keep him in prison." R 2233. The father would poke and punch baby Thomas until there were bruises, saying that he was going to be a man. R 2233. Probably Tommy's first memory of his father was his father choking his mother. R 2234. When Ms. McDaniel remarried, Tommy was terribly nervous, always spilled his milk at the evening meal and his stepfather would curse; the stepfather was an abusive person, more verbally than physically. There has only been one period in Ms. McDaniel's life since she was 16 years old that she was fairly stable for five years. R 2237. When she came out of the state hospital after her first hospitalization during the second marriage (the boys had been sent to live with her mother, the daughters stayed with the stepfather), the boys came to see her at home, and the stepfather told them that they were going back to their grandma's, that their mother could not care for them and "I saw a little boy die from his eyes and his heart, he died." R 2238.

When Tommy was in 7th or 8th grade, he was sexually abused by a teacher. R 2239-40. Three years into her second marriage, Ms.

McDaniel left home, got into a car with a total stranger, and left town. R 2243. The stepfather went with Tommy to fetch the mother back, the stepfather said that the mother was sick, and ordered Tommy to get the mother out of the automobile and bring her back. R 2243-44. While Tommy was still a young boy, Ms. McDaniel left him off in Columbia, South Carolina where his father was. R 2244. In his late teens, Tommy married, there was a child, but the child died, which devastated Tommy. R 2244-45.

Tommy Wyatt's sister, Pamela Caudill, testified: When they were growing up, there wasn't much of a family or a home, it was broken and unstable; they stayed with many relatives, various aunts and uncles would take them in, they had stepfathers, they didn't know their real father, they were kind of scattered at times. 2248. As a child, Tommy was more loving and compassionate than the rest, but seemed to be nervous or withdrawn. R 2249. Their father The first day that the father returned was a mean man. R 2249. from the service, he kept calling Tommy stupid in a way that R 2249-50. As a child, Tommy had a foot frightened Pamela. problem, one of his feet turned in he was clumsy a lot and had accidents walking; that first day that the father came back they were going down the steps, and Tommy fell down the steps and broke his sucker and the father picked him up and shook him and called him stupid and said he was always falling, and Tommy wanted his sucker and the father said he couldn't have the sucker. Every remembrance that she had of the father was that there was screaming and arguing; he was always drinking, always loud. The stepfather was a forceful man, and had peculiar R 2251.

methods of discipline, but was not as loud as the father. R 2251. One time in the back seat of the car Tommy and Pamela were fussing, and the step-father made them get out and fight, urging Tommy to hit the sister. R 2252. Tommy began to use drugs and alcohol around age 13. R 2253. He continued to use drugs and alcohol continuously for years. R 2253. While in a juvenile correctional center, he worked with severely handicapped retarded children, he would take care of them. R 2254-55. He would change their diapers, he taught children with spina bifida to eat and swallow. R 2255.

Barry Wyatt, Tommy's brother, testified that every year or couple of years while they were growing up the mother would become mentally ill. R 2260. The first thing Tommy remembered about his father was the father beating the mother and choking her when he was real young. Id. The stepfather had really unusual forms of punishment. R 2261. The punishment was harder on Tommy than on Barry. R 2261. When he was around 9 or 10, Tommy started messing with drugs and alcohol and his troubles just got worse and worse and worse. R 2261. One time when they were camping, they saw a boy fall in the water and Tommy, who was 10 or 11, jumped in and rescued the boy. R 2262. Another time, Tommy pulled a woman and her four children from a car after a car accident. R 2262-63.

Barry's wife, Kim, testified that Tommy told her he had never felt loved, the one time in his life that he thought he could be loved and give love back was when he was going to have a child but his child died. R 2275. He took the death of the child very hard. R 2275. One time the father tried to provoke Tommy into fighting

with him, and pushed him to the floor and started beating him, but Tommy would not fight back or hit his father and Barry had to pull the father off; Tommy was about 19 then. R 2276.

Max Phillips, Tommy's uncle, testified that, when she was a girl, Tommy's mother would beat her head against the wall, lie on the floor, kicking, screaming or just getting completely uncontrollable, and two or three people would have a hard time holding her. R 2279. Many times she went into mental hospitals. Id. All through Tommy's life, his mother went into mental hospitals. R 2279-80. The effect on Tommy was neglect, hurt, deep hurt. R 2280. Tommy was abandoned lots of times while she was in mental hospitals, and he was abused all the time. R 2280. At one point in her life, she would walk around the street muttering to herself, talking to herself with a cane with her hair matted down like a street person. R 2281. Tommy was aware of this and saw it when he was growing up. R 2281. Tommy had a drug problem when he was about 10 years old. R 2287.

Norbierto Pietri, a death-row inmate, testified to Mr. Wyatt's good character and conduct on death-row. R 2209-18.

3. By a vote of 11 to 1, the jury returned a verdict recommending imposition of the death penalty. R 2363.

In sentencing Mr. Wyatt to death, the trial court found six aggravating circumstances: that Mr. Wyatt was under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder; that he was previously convicted in North Carolina of the violent felonies of robbery and kidnapping; that he was engaged in or was an accomplice to the robbery of Ms. Nydegger of her car at the time of the murder; that

the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; and that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated without any pretense of moral or legal justification. R 2477-80. It found as a mitigating circumstance that Mr. Wyatt "in his early youth resided in a broken and unstable home provided by his step-father while his mother required constant attention to her mental illness." R 2483. At the state's insistence, the court stated that the felony murder and pecuniary gain circumstances were treated as a single circumstance. R 2381.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred by instructing the jury on flight. let the state improperly cross-examine the defendant by asking him to comment on the credibility of the state's witnesses and rehashing the state's case under the quise of cross-examination. It was error for the trial court to deny discovery as to an important state witness's drug use. The trial court improperly curbed defense examination of jurors concerning the law and facts of the case while letting the state question jurors on these topics. It erred in permitting the use of an irrelevant and inflammatory autopsy photograph of the decedent and limiting the cross-examination of a state witness. The trial court improperly interjected itself into the proceedings to the prejudice of the defendant. It let the state use improper character evidence and gave an instruction on "reasonable doubt" which violates the Due Process and Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clauses. The prosecutor's

argument to the jury was so inflammatory and improper as to require a new trial.

The trial court's findings respecting sentencing circumstances were improper: the evidence did not support the trial court's factual findings regarding the aggravating circumstances, and the trial court failed to consider or give weight to unrebutted mitigating evidence. The court erred by instructing the jury on the heinousness circumstance. Other jury instructions given to the jury violate the Due Process and Cruel and Unusual Punishment Clauses. The trial court erred in admitting hearsay testimony in violation of the Confrontation Clause and by letting the state introduce photographs and cumulative evidence regarding prior violent felonies committed by Mr. Wyatt. The prosecutor's penalty phase argument requires a new sentencing hearing. Section 921.141, Florida Statutes is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

I. GUILT PHASE

A. JURY INSTRUCTION ON FLIGHT

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