IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 14 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 79,245

THOMAS WYATT,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 656879
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
Suite 300
West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299
Telephone: (407) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

Argued: Richard Martell the Capital Tallahassee 5-5-94 JB

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in instructing the jury as to flight. This issue is not preserved for appeal as there was no objection to the instruction. Furthermore, such an instruction was permissible at the time of appellant's trial. Appellant's reliance on <u>Fenelon v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992) is misplaced as <u>Fenelon</u>, is prospective only.

The state did not engage in any impermissible crossexamination of appellant. This issue is not preserved for appeal as no objection to any of the questions was ever made.

Appellant was not precluded from conducting any meaningful or timely discovery.

The trial court properly limited appellant's questioning of the venire. Specific questions regarding how a jury would vote when faced with the actual facts of the case is improper.

The trial court properly allowed the state to submit a photograph of the victim during the testimony of the medical examiner.

The trial court properly precluded appellant from cross-examining a state witness as same was beyond the scope of direct.

The trial court's comment about appellant during his testimony was proper given appellant's conduct.

The state did not admit any impermissible character evidence of appellant. This issue was not preserved for appeal.

The prosecutor's closing arguments during the guilt phase were proper comments on the evidence. This issue was not preserved for appeal.

The standard jury instruction regarding reasonable doubt is constitutional. This issue is not preserved for appeal.

The trial court properly found the existence of the following aggravating factors: the crime was committed to avoid arrest, the crime was committed during the course of a robbery, the crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner.

The trial court properly considered all the mitigating evidence.

The trial court properly instructed the jury regarding all of the aggravating factors. Furthermore, the jury was properly instructed regarding their role in the sentencing process. This entire issue has not been preserved for appeal.

The state was properly allowed to admit evidence of appellant's prior violent felonies.

The prosecutor's penalty phase closing argument was permissible. The issue was not properly preserved for appeal.

Florida's death penalty statute is constitutional. This issue has not been preserved for appeal.

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON FLIGHT

Relying on Fenelon v. State, 549 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992), appellant claims that the trial court erred by giving the jury an instruction regarding flight. Prior to this Court's decision in Fenelon such an instruction was permissible. Appellant is not entitled to the benefit of Fenelon as his trial was conducted several months before Fenelon was rendered. Fenelon should be applied prospectively, appellant's argument is without merit. Furthermore, this issue has not been preserved for appeal. Although appellant objects to the court's instruction, the specific ground grounds were orarticulated. (R 1619-1620). Fla. Rule of Crim. Pro. 3.390 (d); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d. 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

If this Court determines that the trial court erred in giving the instruction, it must be considered harmless given the strength of the evidence of appellant's guilt. Appellant admits to being with the victim the night before she was murdered. He was in possession of her car and the murder weapon immediately subsequent to the murder. (R 850, 1446-49, 1456, 811, 843). He disposed of both the following day. (R 864, 844, 857). He confessed the murder to two different people. (R 848, 1499). He elicited the advice of one of those people regarding a possible attempt to kill his co-defendant Michael Lovette. (R 1497, 1499, 1516). Appellant has failed to demonstrate any harmful error. Fenelon.

ISSUE II

THE STATE DID NOT ENGAGE IN ANY IMPROPER CROSS-EXAMINATION OF APPELLANT

Appellant claims that the prosecutor impermissibly elicited appellant's opinion regarding the veracity of the state's witnesses. Review of this issue is precluded given that there was no objection to any of the questions asked of appellant. Wasko v. State, 505 So. 2d 1314, 1317 (Fla. 1987). Irrespective of the procedural default, appellant has failed to establish any error.

reviewing a claim regarding the scope of When has the trial court wide cross-examination, permissible discretion, appellant must establish an abuse of that discretion. Gilbert v. State, 407 So.2d 1007, 1009 (5th DCA 1981). A review of the record reveals that the prosecutor was simply pointing out inconsistencies in the testimony of various witnesses. For instance, appellant's version of what happened to the bullets, the victim's car is in murder weapon and the contradiction to Freddie Fox's version. Likewise on specific points, appellant's version of what happened in Club 92 the night before the murder is inconsistent with what Jennifer Oler stated. the obvious The merely pointing out prosecutor was inconsistencies. Kramer v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S 266, 267 Any error must be April 29, 1993); Wasko, supra. considered harmless given that the jury was already aware of the inconsistent testimony. Furthermore, on direct-examination,

appellant was asked repeatedly about the inconsistencies on the testimony. (R 1643, 1645, 1650, 1652). At one point during the direct examination of Patrick McCoobs, appellant called him a liar. (R 1496). In summary, the questions on cross-examination were proper, and the jury was already aware of the inconsistent testimony as appellant himself had already pointed same during his testimony. This claim is both not preserved and without merit.

ISSUE III

APPELLANT WAS NOT PRECLUDED FROM CONDUCTING RELEVANT AND TIMELY DISCOVERY

Appellant claims that the trial court refusing to order a state witness, Jennifer Oler, to answer a question regarding her drug usage. The specific question was who her drug supplier. (R 592-593). Ms. Oler had already answered questions regarding her drug consumption around the Defense counsel conceded that night in question. (R 592-593). the identity of Ms. Oler's' drug supplier was not relevant nor admissible. (R 595, 597-598). He wanted it for discovery purposes only. (R 595). However, Ms. Oler already answered questions in her deposition regarding her drug consumption on or about the time of crime. (R 592-593). Defense counsel chose not to bring that out during cross-examination. (R 739-747). Edwards v. State, 548 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 1989). The identity of Ms. Oler's drug supplier was not proper discovery, nor was it relevant to any issue at trial. Boshears v. State, 371 So. 2d 725 (1st DCA 1979); Lane v. State, 457 So. 2d 586 (3rd DCA 1984).

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PREVENTING APPELLANT FROM ASKING SPECIFIC QUESTIONS TO THE VENIRE

trial court erred in claims that the Appellant precluding defense counsel from asking specific questions about the instant case to the venire. Given that the trial court possess discretion in deciding what is the proper scope of questions on voir dire, appellant has failed to establish an abuse of that discretion. Stano v. State, 473 So. 2d 1282, 1285 (1985) cert. denied, 106 S. Ct. 869, 474 U.S. 1093, 88 L. Ed. 2d 907, stay granted 828 F. 2d 10 denied habeas corpus affirmed in part reversed in part, 901 F. 2d. 892 (1989).

voir dire, course of Throughout the questioned the jury about general characteristics of the case. For instance, the state asked the prospective panel whether they could keep an open mind even though there were no eyewitnesses to the crime and if they could understand the concept of the law on principals. (R 91, 102, 103, 110, 111, 122, 129, 135, 153, 154, The defense asked questions regarding whether or nor the jury would be bothered if the defendant did not testify, (R 182), and whether they would be effected by gruesome photographs (R 176, 203). Appellant was also allowed to ask questions regarding whether or not they could follow the law and not view death as an automatic sentence. (R 440). The trial court prevented appellant from asking the panel under what circumstances they would vote to impose the death penalty (R 439-440), and also precluded him from attempting to characterize the state's case as one of circumstantial evidence. (R 2541-253). The trial court's ruling was correct. Smith v. State, 253 So. 2d 465, 470 (1st DCA 1971). Appellant claims that he was not allowed to inquire into a juror's predisposition regarding the death penalty. The record belies that contention. Immediately after the trial court precluded the improper questioning, defense attorney counsel was able to ascertain from the panel whether they would automatically vote for death or would they listen to the case and follow the law. (R 440, 467-468, 474, 497). Given that a juror's competency is determined from one's ability to lay aside any prejudice or bias and judge the case on the evidence and the law, Stano, supra, appellant has failed to demonstrate any prejudice.

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING A PHOTOGRAPH OF THE VICTIM

Appellant claims that the trial court erred allowing the admission of a photograph οf the victim. Specifically, appellant claims that the picture should have been excluded because it depicted blood on the victim's face. He concedes that it was admissible for identification purposes, but due to the blood, it was gory. (R 633). The trial court ruled that the photograph was not gruesome and was relevant for identification. (R 634). The trial court's ruling was correct. Blake v. State, 156 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 1963); Halliwell v. State, 323 So. 2d 557, 560 (Fla. 1975).

If this Court finds error it must be considered harmless given the testimony of medical examiner, the other witnesses and the other photographs. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 17 FLW S 342 (June 4, 1992).

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PRECLUDED APPELLANT FROM CROSS-EXAMINATION OF MATERIAL OUTSIDE THE SCOPE OF DIRECT

Appellant claims that the trial court impermissibly limited the scope of cross-examination of state witness Leo Schlemer. Schlemer. testified that appellant was at the Glen Ellen apartments. (R 808-810). Defense attorney asked Schlemer if Freddie Fox was under the influence of alcohol. (R 815). The trial court sustained the state's objection based on the fact that the question was beyond the scope of direct. (R 815). The trial court's ruling was correct. Jones v. State, 440 So. 2d 570, 576 (1983) habeas corpus denied, 928 F. 2d 1020, cert. denied, 112 S. Ct. 216, 116 L. Ed. 2d 174, reversed on other grounds, 591 So. 2d 911 (1991).

In any event, appellant was able to elicit the desired evidence through Freddie Fox himself. (R 852, 855, 868, 869). Furthermore, appellant and others testified that appellant was there at Glen Ellen apartments. (R 822, 841-842, 1663, 1670). Appellant has not established any prejudicial error. Morgan v. State, 415 So. 2d 6, 10 (1982) cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1055, 74 L. Ed. 2d 621, 103 S. Ct. 473 (1983).

ISSUE VII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ENGAGE IN ANY JUDICIAL MISCONDUCT

Appellant claims that the trial court engaged in judicial misconduct when he stated that the defendant was being kind of smart. (R 1759). This issue is precluded from review as there was no objection to the judge's statement. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S11, 12 (Fla. December 17, 1992).

When taken in its proper context, the trial court's During cross-examination comment was not improper. prosecutor asked appellant if Jennifer Oler was mistaken when she testified that appellant left the the victim. bar with Appellant's counsel objected claiming that the question had previously been asked and answered. (R 1759). The trial court overruled the objection and asked appellant to answer the question. (R 1759). The trial court's comment was a part of the following exchange:

Prosecutor: "Was she incorrect when she said that?"

Appellant: "For the upteenth time, yes, she was incorrect."(R 1759).

Prosecutor: "Are you getting tired of answering these questions, Mr. Wyatt?"

Defense counsel: "I object, I think his badgering the witness."The Court: "No he isn't. The witness is being kind of smart, he brought that on himself."

The trial court was merely ruling on a defense objection, and stated that he was denying same given that the defendant gave a sarcastic response to the prosecutor. There was no comment on the evidence, no vouching for any state

witness. The judge's remark did not deprive appellant of a fair trial. Jones, supra.

ISSUE VIII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERRONEOUSLY ALLOW THE ADMISSION OF IMPROPER CHARACTER EVIDENCE

Appellant cites to several instances of alleged collateral crime evidence which he alleges was impermissible. The first instance involves appellant's statement to Officer Robinson that he is glad he did not have a gun when the officer stopped him otherwise he would have shot him. The trial court admitted the statement as evidence of flight and consciousness of guilt. (R 1250-1262). That ruling was proper. Straight v. State, 397 So. 2d 903, 908 (1981) cert. denied, 102 S. Ct. 556, 454 U.S. 1022, 70 L. Ed. 2d 418 reh. denied, 102 S. Ct. 1043, 454 U.S. 1165, 71 L. Ed. 2d 323 stay denied 491 So. 2d 281 (1981); Padilla v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S181, 183 (Fla. March 25, 1993).

Appellant next complains about a statement that appellant had hit someone in the head. This has not preserved for appeal objection as no was made to the admissibility of the evidence. (R 1213, 1226-1227). Lawrence v. State, 614 So. 2d 1092, 1094 (Fla. 1993). The evidence regarding appellant's argument with his employer was offered to illustrate appellant's repeated attempts to flee the police. (R 1208-1234). Bundy v. State, 471 So. 2d 9, 20 (Fla. 1985); O'Connel v. State, 480 So. 2d 1284, 1285 (Fla. 1986). Tumulty v. State, In any event any error in admitting the testimony must be considered harmless given that it was only mentioned once in passing. (R 1213). Carter v. State, 15 Fla.L. S255 (Fla. 4/26/90). The only

other reference to the argument was brought out on redirect after defense counsel referred to it on cross. <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1990). Appellant's argument is without merit.

Next appellant complains that the jury heard appellant's confession where he referred to someone named "Jim", and that Jim had hurt many people. It is clear that the statement's regarding "Jim's" activities were offered as inculpatory evidence relevant to the murder of Ms. Nydgger rather than reference to other bad acts. (1338-1340).

Appellant also complains that the state was allowed to bring out the fact that appellant feigned a conversion to christianity. (R 1359-1361). This was admitted via the testimony of Officer Robinson. Prior to its admission, defense brought out the fact that Robinson and his finance went to visit appellant in jail. The state then introduced the now objected to evidence. The trial court allowed same since appellant implied that Robinson considered appellant a good person, thereby opening the door to anything contrary. (R 1359-1360)). Lucas, supra. Any error in its admission must be considered harmless. Carter, supra.

Lastly, appellant argues that reference to a convict code made by state witness Patrick McCoombs amounts to collateral crime evidence. A review of the record illustrates that this issue is not preserved for appeal as the objections made at trial are different than the ones advanced on appeal. The objection made by counsel regarding this evidence was that the evidence was

not relevant, there was no proper predicate for its admission, and there is no evidence that such a code exists. (R 1482-1482). Sapp v. State, 411 So. 2d 363 (4th DCA 1982). In any event appellant cannot establish any error as McCoomb's reference to a convict code was made in reference to McCoomb's prior extensive criminal record, not appellant's. (R 1483-1485). McCoomb's knowledge or acceptance of a criminal code does not implicate appellant in any collateral bad acts. Appellant's argument is totally void of any merit. If it was error to admit same, it must be considered harmless. Carter.

ISSUE IX

THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT INCLUDED PERMISSIBLE COMMENTS ON THE EVIDENCE

Appellant claims that the prosecutor's closing argument amounted to unwarranted attacks on appellant, improper assertions regarding the veracity of state's witnesses, and impermissible references to appellant's constitutional rights. None of the complained remarks were objected to, consequently, this issue is not preserved for appeal. Stewart v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S294 (Fla. May 13, 1993); Crump v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S331, 334 (Fla. June 10, 1993).

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